
F

Annual Report

The Town of Newmarket
New Hampshire

For the Year Ending December 31, 1993



1994
Dates to Remember

March 10 Annual Newmarket School District Meeting

Newmarket High School Gymnasium 7:00 p.m.

April 1

April 30

May 10

May 12

June 1

Julyl

All Real Property Assessed to Owners this Date

Dog Licenses Due: Available from Town Clerk

Annual Town Meeting - Elections

Newmarket High School Gymnasium
8:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.

Annual Town Meeting - Deliberation Session

Newmarket High School Gymnasium 7:00 p.m.

Anticipated Date for Tax Billing

Payment Due July 1, 1994

Fiscal Year Begins

November 1 Anticipated Date for Tax Billing

Payment Due December 1, 1994

Meetings
Town Council Business Meeting

First Wednesday of the Month
7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers

Planning Board
Fourth Tuesday of the Month

7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers
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DEDICATION

This 1993 Town Report is dedicated to Arthur R. Beauchesne in recognition of his many years of

service to the Town of Newmarket. It is recognized that town government will not be productive

or effective without citizen involvement. The dedication of many volunteer hours, expertise and
community thoughtfulness all contribute to the quality of local government and the community.
This year, the Town Council is pleased to dedicate this town report to someone who has
contributed many hours of his time to serve his community and the citizens of Newmarket. In

1948, at the early age of twenty-four, Arthur became a selectmen. Since that time, he has

continuously served the citizens of Newmarket in a variety of positions. Arthur continued to serve

on the Board of Selectmen from 1948 to 1955. He held the position of School Moderator for

twenty-one years, (1958 - 1981). Arthur was a Planning Board member in 1959 and served again

from 1978-1981. He also served as the town's industrial agent during the years of 1971 and 1972.

If this was not enough, Arthur was reelected to the Board of Selectmen in 1988 and served in that

capacity through 1990. Arthur was elected to the first Town Council beginning in 1991 and served
through 1993. Arthur Beauchesne's service to the citizens of Newmarket has been extraordinary

and serves as a challenge for others to become involved in their local government. His election

to the positions identified above illustrates citizen's support and satisfaction of Arthur's labor.

We extend our sincere appreciation to Arthur Beauchesne for his service to the citizens of

Newmarket and wish him the very best of health and happiness during his retirement.



TOWN OFFICERS

Moderator
Ronald Lemieux** May 1994

Town Council

John Ahlgren** May 1994

Richard Gilbert** May 1994

Priscilla Shaw** May 1995

Richard Wilson** May 1995

John Fitzgibbon** May 1996

W. David Halloran** May 1996

Jennie Griswold** May 1996

Town Administrator

Frank Edmunds

Town Clerk/Tax Collector

Judith Harvey** May 1994

Madeleine St. Hilaire (Deputy)

Treasurer

Belinda Camire** May 1994

Code Enforcement Officer

David R. Andrade

Public Works Director

David G. Walker

Chief of Police

Kerryl L. Clement

Fire Chief/Forest Fire Warden
Charles A. Clark

Assistant Fire Chief

Robert Jordan

Deputy Fire Chief

Norman Howcroft

Dispatch Supervisor

Rosanne Gilbert

** Elected



Trustees of the Trust Fund
Roy Kent**

Kathryn Smith **

Edward Pelczar**

May 1994

March 1996

March 1995

Supervisors of the Checklist

Debbie Pelletier**

Barbara Jenkins**

Daphne Fotiades**

Civil Defense Director

Candice Jarosz

May 1994

May 1996

May 1998

June 1993

Assistant Civil Defense Director

Vincent Jarosz June 1993

Donald McGael**
Walter Funaiole**

David Halloran**

Heather D. Darois

Lawrence Pickering

Richard Caswell

Charles Smart**

Glenn M. Dodds**
Debbie Pelletier**

Michael Martin**

Jason Mongeon**

Budget Committee

**

Zoning Board
Michael Martin

Jeffrey Castonguay

Gilbert Lang, Sr.

(2 vacancies)

Planning Board

Jay Dugal**

Kelly Malasky**

Gerry Hamel**
Vickie Bloom**
Robert Filion**

John Ahlgren

Laurence Beauchesne**
Gregory Macintosh, Sr.

Preston Samuel

May 1996

May 1994

May 1994

May 1994

May 1994

May 1994

May 1995

May 1995

May 1995

May 1996

May 1996

April 1995

April 1994

April 1994

May 1996

May 1994

May 1994

May 1995

May 1995

July 1993

May 1996

August 1996

Alternates

2 Vacancies**

** Elected



Economic Development Committee

David Halloran

Charles Smart

Jay Dugal

Priscilla Shaw
Bruce Fecteau

Frank Edmunds

Strafford Regional Planning Commission

Frank Edmunds November 1995

Preston Samuel December 1997

Librarian

Sharon Kidney

Kristin Carmichael

Isabel Donovan
Forbes Getchell

Susan Edwards

Lola Tourginy*

Trustees of the Library

December 1995

December 1995

December 1996

December 1994

May 1994

Recreation Director

Jim Hilton

Housing Authority Director

Ernest A. Clark II

Housing Authority

Cindy Lauigne

Frank Schanda

William Pelletier

Walter Schultz

Gaynile Kidd

Maureen Barrows

Welfare Administrator

December 1998

December 1994

December 1995

December 1996

December 1997

Highway Safety Committee

Richard Fillion

Robert Daigle

Richard Gilbert

David Walker

K. Lee Clement

Charles Clark

Frank P. Edmunds

March 1995

April 1996

** Elected



Personnel Advisory Board

Mark Klein November 1996
,

Rachel Atherton November 1996 (

Al Ferrari November 1996
i

i

I

Conservation Commission

Marianne H. Welles October 1995

Michael Davis October 1995

(3 Vacancies)

Conservation Commission Alternates

2 Vacancies

Recycling Committee

Bob Couture

Barbara Early

Preston Samuel

Richard Johnson

Nancy Murphy
Newell Whitford

Amos Johnson

John Carmichael

Jeanne Wholey
Steve Scribner

Stephen B. Clark

Scott Hogan
Richard and Priscilla Shaw
Bob & Dorothy Davidson

Mary & Jay Jenkins

Michael Ricker

Alan Demillo

State Representatives

Albert Caswell, Jr.** November 1994

Betsy Goes** November 1994

Joseph Schanda** November 1994

** Elected



REPORT OF THE
TOWN COUNCIL

1993 and early 1994 has been a very eventful period for the Town of Newmarket. Many changes

have occurred and steady progress has been made to move this community forward with a positive

direction for the future.

During 1993, two new Town Councilors, David Halloran and John "Jack" Fitzgibbon were elected

and began service to the community. The Council thanks outgoing Councilors, Vice Chair Ray

LeBlanc and Paul "Buzz" Dietterle for their dedicated service to the Town of Newmarket. Both

Mr. LeBlanc and Mr. Dietterle were original council members and played major roles in the

successful transition of town government. The Council extends our sincere best wishes and thanks

to both.

As in past years, the Town Administrator and Town Council began work early on the municipal

budget. One of the critical elements of the 1991 Town Charter is the implementation of Fiscal

Year budget process. This required an 18 month transitional budget to be put into place in

1992/93. The successful completion of the 18 month budget period in June 1993, thanks to the

cooperation of our Tovra's dedicated employees, the skill of our department heads and the

leadership of our Town Administrator is a major milestone now achieved in that process. The

progress being made on paying for the costs of the transitional budget through good financial

planning and short term borrowing rather than large bond issues is proving successful as well. The

Council feels it is well on its way to clearing this hurdle within the next few years. Of note is that

the municipal budget has remained relatively stable and has provided steady and reliable services

to the residents of Newmarket during this period.

Preparing a town like Newmarket for the future is a complex and time consuming endeavor. The

intense and rapid development of this community in the early to mid eighties has presented this

Town with some significant issues and unique challenges. The problems associated with the

dramatic growth in Newmarket have been identified. Our job now as a community is to work

together to provide solutions to some of those problems and to put plans in place for the future.

To that end, the Council and the Town Administration are working to chart a course which will

allow Newmarket to meet the challenges of providing necessary services for the residents of our

community, while maintaining the quality of life so important to our residents and, of course, the

ultimate challenge of doing all of this "within our means".

Newmarket must now, however, begin to invest in its future. We cannot solve the problems we

are facing by sitting on our hands. We must keep working together to develop economic growth

and make the necessary changes and improvements to stimulate an increasing tax base as well as

provide an adequate level of services for our increased population and community size.

As a beginning step in Newmarket's planning for the future, the Town contracted with Northern

Economic Planners for an Economic Development Study. This study which was conducted by

professional development consultants with an expertise in mill town redevelopment was

accomplished with the assistance of many community members. Our thanks to all who participated.

The study provides insight into Newmarket's place in the economic climate of the region. It also

begins to blueprint a strategy for preparing our town for the anticipated economic development

opportunities in New Hampshire. While some of the final report confirmed our fears about



Newmarket's capacity for beneficial growth, much of the report highlights the many treasures

located in Newmarket and presents some very exciting opportunities for us as a community.

The Economic Development Study is now being incorporated into the update of the Town's Master
Plan which is currently underway and will be completed in 1994. The Council's goal is to have a

comprehensive plan for Newmarket's future - something that will not live its life on a shelf but will

be an active working document for our community.

The renovation of St. Mary's School into the Newmarket Town Hall was completed in 1993. An
April Open House was held to showcase the "new" Town Offices. We are very excited about the

facilities and pleased that our Town employees have such a pleasant place to work and serve

Newmarket residents. We are also very pleased that this renovation was accomplished within the

dollars available from the insurance settlement for the old Town Hall.

It is apparent that many projects are underway in Newmarket. The construction of the addition

to the Library and the new Community Center are the most obvious. Both facilities are going to

provide wonderful services for the residents of Newmarket. By taking advantage of grant

opportunities and fundraising activities, both projects have been brought to fruition without further

impacting our critical tax situation. It is unportant that we continue to plan these activities for the

future and that we are ready to take advantage of positive opportunities as they arise. This strategy

will serve Newmarket well into the future.

Solid waste is an important issue for Nevmiarket to face in the coming year. We must approach
our trash disposal with a very different attitude and in a very different manner than we have in the

past. Newmarket's Recycling Committee has done an incredible job of operating a totally

volunteer recycling program for our community. Every Saturday from 9 a.m. - 2 p.m. recyclable

materials are brought to the Public Works Department yard and are sorted and stored by a large

group of volunteers who are willing to give of themselves to provide this service. Countless hours
are spent by the Recycling Committee in organizing activities and scheduling volunteers. The
Newmarket Town Council wishes to thank the Recycling Committee and a very dedicated group
of volunteers for their tireless efforts.

The closure of the Landfill proceeds and continues to dominate a great deal of our Town
Administrator's time. The Council is hopeful that we can come to final closure in a timely manner
and that this chapter of Newmarket's history can be behind us. We continue to be appreciative

of Mr. Edmunds' expertise, his patience and his resolve in getting this closure accomplished.

Newmarket, as always, can be proud of its efforts in helping out our neighbors in need. The Giving
Tree, Operation Santa Claus, the Newmarket Teachers Food Basket Program and the outpouring
of support for families burned out in fires are examples of how our community comes together and
what a special community we live in.

Our Town Departments, employees and volunteers, deserve acknowledgement for their fine efforts

in providing services to the residents of Newmarket. Their dedication and cooperative spirit are

outstanding and are reflected in the quality of services we all enjoy.

Town Council meetings continue to he held on the first and third Wednesday of each month. The
first Wednesday is our regular business meeting and we encourage residents to come in and share

your thoughts and concerns with the Council. The first item on the agenda is always a Public

Forum, an opportunity for comments, concerns or questions which are not on the regular agenda.

II



The third Wednesday of the month meeting is generally a hands on work session with the

Administrator. Many major issues need to be addressed and decided. We look for your input and

opinion as we undertake those important issues which affect you and the Town of Newmarket.

Much needs to be done. Proper long term planning including a solid capital improvements plan,

a road plan, a long term solid waste plan and the Town's Master Plan are the tools which will

prepare Newmarket for the future. As a Council, we look forward to working toward the goal of

providing quality services, good government and a bright future for our Town and to you, the

residents of Newmarket.

We need your help, your support and your input as we move ahead,

any of us with your comments and your concerns.

Please feel free to contact

Richard Wilson, Chairman

Priscilla Shaw, Vice Chairman

John Ahlgren

John Fitzgibbon

Richard Gilbert

Jennie Griswold

David Halloran

Top Row: J. Ahlgren, D. Halloran, J. Griswold, R. Gilbert, J. Fitzgibbon

Bottom Row: P. Shaw (Vice-chair), R. Wilson (Chairman), F. Edmunds (Town Administrator)

8



REPORT OF THE
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR

It is my pleasure to offer this report regarding administrative activities for 1993. In preparing for

this report, I realized the variety, as well as the significant number of complex issues, which made
1993 a most challenging year. The following report is a brief summation of the more predominant

issues.

We began 1993 with the preparation and presentation of the proposed fiscal year Town budget

(July 1993 to June 1994). The budget process is a lengthy one, beginning with department head

submittals in the Fall, followed by my review and presentations to the Council in early January.

The budget process was predicated on the desire to maintain existing Town services without

increasing the Town's portion of the tax rate. Upon Council review, the proposed budget was

presented to the Budget Committee for review and presentation at the May Town Meeting. The

adopted budget did not raise the Town's portion of the tax rate, and in fact, there was a slight

reduction.

In the Spring, we concluded the Town Hall renovations. I hope many of the citizens have had an

opportunity to visit Town Hall and see the very attractive office space, which has been established

on the first floor. Installation of an elevator provides access to all levels at Town Hall. The
renovation project was funded with monies from the fire insurance account established when the

old Town Hall was destroyed by fire. Therefore, it was not necessary to utilize tax dollars for the

improvements. Town Hall staff are very grateful and proud of the improvements.

June 30, 1993 marked the end of the eighteen (18) month transitional period, which was necessary

in order to implement the Optional Fiscal Year accounting system. Contained in this annual

report, you will find auditing results of that eighteen month period. I am pleased to note that the

audit identified a fund balance in the amount of $755,802. Such a fund balance represents good

fiscal management policies implemented by the Town Council and administered by Town staff.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to the department and division

heads who have worked very hard to provide their respective services to our citizens, while at the

same time, identify sources of potential savings.

In early Summer, the Town Council authorized a contract with Northern Economic Planners of

Concord, New Hampshire to perform an economic/marketing study for our Town. The consultant

team consisted of a group of professionals with diverse backgrounds necessary to undertake an

independent review of Newmarket's economic growth potential. An advisory committee was

established to work with the consultant during the course of a six month study. The final report

has produced very thoughtful recommendations, from which the Planning Board will use as a basis

for future land use regulations and development procedures. Copies of the report are available

at Town Hall as well as the Newmarket Library.

Extensive negotiations also occurred in 1993 with Continental Cablevision for renewal of the cable

television contract. A subcommittee of the Town Council, lead by Councilor John Ahlgren, with

Councilor Paul Dietterle and Council Chairman, Richard Wilson, resulted in a progressive and

favorable contract. As a result, all areas of the Town are serviced by Continental Cablevision. The
Town also secured a variety of communication options, which it may implement in future years

regarding the exchange of electronic information between municipal buildings. Citizens that are



dissatisfied or concerned with the level of service provided by Continental Cablevision, are urged
to contact my office.

There were a number of major construction projects initiated and/or completed in 1993. It has

been my pleasure to assist the Newmarket Library Board of Trustees during the initial stages of

the library expansion project. The Trustees should be commended for the construction of a very

attractive addition to their facility. I hope that my assistance and project involvement made it a

little easier for them to have such a successful project. Also, the Town was successful in receiving

funds for a new Community Center with a grant from the Office of State Planning in the amount
of $350,000, and more than $170,000 provided by the Newmarket Housing Authority. The
Community Center project broke ground in Fall of 1993. It is anticipated that Phase I of the

project will be completed in early Summer of 1994. This facility is intended to provide a central

location for our community's social service and recreation activities.

During 1993, the Town Council authorized a variety of special studies. First, we conducted an

engineering review of Town's water treatment plant, located on Packers Fall Road. During 1991

and 1992, the facility received a significant upgrade in order to meet State and Federal standards.

The engineer's report verified that water consumption did not require the operation of the plant,

and projected that it would not be necessary to utilize the plant for the next five (5) years. Plant

operations are very expensive and based upon that report, we are proceeding with plans to close

the facility in order to preserve it for future operations. Another study effort concluded this past

year was a police facility site study conducted by a subcommittee of the Town Council. After many
months of review and analysis, the committee recommended the purchase of the former Pohopek
property located at the intersection of Route 108 and Terrace Drive. The Council proceeded with

the purchase of the subject property as a future site for a police facility and possibly other

emergency services. In December, the Town Council authorized a resource utilization study of the

Newmarket Police Department. Such a study is intended to provide an independent analysis of

departmental needs, as well as demands for police services. This examination of our police

resources will be conducted to insure that we are maximizing our existing potential to provide

professional police services to the citizens of Newmarket. A final study report is anticipated to be

received in the Spring of 1994.

The Town Council authorized the administration to seek bids for several major purchases and

projects. Bid specifications were prepared for a replacement ambulance, fire truck and community
reevaluation. Great care had to be taken to prepare the proper specifications to insure that the

town would receive the desired result. Cooperation and coordination was necessary from the

ambulance corps and the fire department to insure that the vehicle specifications met their needs.

A substantial amount of research was necessary to insure that the revaluation specifications were

appropriate for our Town. I anticipate the contract awards for the referenced purchases and

projects will be granted in 1994. Major purchases, such as these, are funded by Capital Reserve

Funds which are budgeted and reserved each year. Over time, the funds are invested and allow

the town to purchase major cost items without impacting the tax rate.

An issue that seems to never go away is solid waste disposal. Several significant decisions have

been made with regard to the Lamprey Solid Waste Cooperative, which will impact the way
Newmarket citizens collect and dispose of our residential solid waste. Newmarket is one of

thirteen communities that are a part of the Lamprey Solid Waste Cooperative. The Cooperative

formed nearly fourteen years ago, allowed for the disposal of municipal solid waste at an

incinerator located in Durham; the incinerator produces steam which is sold to the University

10



system. Legal documents establishing the Cooperative and the relationship with the University

expires in November 1995. This means that another acceptable waste disposal solution must be

identified with the expectation that a solution will meet the waste disposal needs of our community
and be cost effective. I have served as Newmarket's representative to the Cooperative, and served

on the Long Range Planning Subcommittee of the Cooperative. In an attempt to identify an

appropriate solid waste disposal solution, many subcommittee meetings were conducted throughout

the year. Unfortunately, there does not appear to be a solution that meets the needs of the

thirteen communities and is cost effective. Therefore, I anticipate that Newmarket will have to

identify those solutions, which are appropriate for our community, and proceed with the

development of a solid waste disposal plan in 1994.

Finally, I continue with my efforts to close the Newmarket Landfill, in which many meetings were

conducted with representatives of United Technologies, Harvard Industries and our consulting

engineers. Considerable legal negotiations have been concluded, and requires third party closure

cost contributions from United Technologies and Harvard Industries. There was also removal of

hazardous waste buried within the landfill, as well as a supplemental site study conducted, with a

report to be presented to New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services in early 1994.

During this past year, more than $374,988 has been expended for cleansing the site of industrial

hazardous waste contaminants and preparing the necessary studies and reports, which will enable

us to proceed with site closure.

I have briefly touched upon several of the more significant issues addressed by the administration

during this past year. With the assistance of Town Staff, guidance from the Town Council and with

the understanding of our citizens, we have been able to meet the demands and stresses placed

upon Town government.

I urge all the citizens to be active in Town government. Appointments are needed to a variety of

volunteer committees. I am sure the Council would welcome greater participation during their

monthly meetings. Should you desire to become more involved in your Town government, please

do not hesitate to contact me.

Frank P. Edmunds
Town Administrator

11



1993 PROPERTY TAX BREAKDOWN

Total Tax:



INVENTORY APRIL 1, 1993
i

Land $40,070,240.00

Building Residential 99,444,050.00

Manufactured 3,317,700.00

Commercial/Industrial 27353,650.00
Electric Plants 1.334.700.00

Valuation before Exemptions: $171,520,340.00

Exemptions

Blind 45,000.00

Elderly 2.317.100.00

Net Valuations for Tax Rate $169,158,240.00

$39,034,648.00

98,071,400.00

3,271,100.00

28,105,850.00

1.242.200.00

$169,725,198.00

45,000.00

2.159.600.00

167,520,598.00

13



TOTAL GROSS WAGES
BY DEPARTMENT

YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1993

Administration $ 327,234.64

Police 470,160.82

Public Works 447,605.93

Emergency Services 6.735.31

Total $1,251,736.70

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Full-time 50

Part-time 18

Seasonal 26
Special Purpose 40

14



REPORT OF THE
TAX COLLECTOR

In 1993 the Town Clerk/Tax Collector's office, as in all other years, was ready to serve our
community in a courteous and friendly manner.

We are the office you will need to visit if you are paying any monies to the Town of Newmarket.
Whether it be recreation fees, water and sewer payments, tax payments, ambulance payments, etc.

This office is your resource for all types of information. In addition, we also perform several

official tasks.

Voter registration can be done in our office. To register, one must show proof of residency and
proof of citizenship.

Car registrations renewals and all new registrations are handled through this office. All new
residents have to register their cars within 60 days of moving to N.H. We are hoping to serve as

a state agent beginning late in 1994 and this will mean you can do all your registration renewals

with us and no longer have to go to the state for stickers. Boat registrations can also be obtained

through us along with the stickers for your boat.

Dog licenses come from this office as well. All dog licenses must be done every year by April 30th.

There are fines assessed after June 1st if dogs are not registered.

Landfill permits are available at a price of $5.00 per year. A fee schedule for bringing items to the

landfill is available at the office.

We are available to serve you Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. and the first and
last Thursdays of the month until 6:00 p.m.

Judith M. Harvey
Town Clerk/Tax Collector

15



SUMMARY OF TAX ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1993



SUMMARY OF TAX ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1993

CREDITS
REMITTANCES TO TREASURER
Property Taxes

Resident Taxes

Land Use Change Tax
Yield Taxes

Interest on Taxes

Penalties

Bad Check Fees

Transfer

Levies of



SUMMARY OF TAX LIEN ACCOUNTS
FOR YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1993

DEBITS

Balance of Unredeemed Taxes

Beginning of Year

Taxes Sold/Executed to Town
During Year

Interest Collected

After Lien Execution

Collected Redemption Costs

Transfer of Interest

Transfer of Tax

Added Redemption Costs

TOTAL DEBITS

CREDITS

Remittance to Treasurer

During Year

Interest & Costs

Costs Added

Excess Credits

Abatements

Unredeemed Taxes on Liens

12/31/92

TOTAL CREDITS

1992 1991

437,310.00

1,111,659.00

30,157.00 61,162.00

1,141,816.00 498,472.00

861.00 1,279.00

595,133.00 141,346.00

1,141,816.00 498,472.00

PRIOR

173,442.00

53,183.00

226,625.00

515,665.00



1993 TOWN CLERK'S ACCOUNT

1993 Automobile Permits $440,567.22

1993 Boat Registrations 3,775.88

1993 Title Fees 3,018.00

1993 Dog Licenses 1,362.50

1993 Vital Statistics 3,911.00

1993 UCC Statement Fees 1,926.07

1993 Filing Fees 14.00

1993 Voter Registration Card Fees 2.00

1993 Returned Check Fees 231.66

1993 Peddlers and Junk Dealers Licenses 55.00

1993 Notary Fees 242.00

1993 Landfill Permit Fees 6,783.00

1993 Ambulance Fees 13,575.17

1993 Planning & Zoning Fees ,

2,029.15

Total Remitted to Town Treasurer $477,492.65
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VITAL STATISTICS

MARRIAGES
REGISTERED IN THE TOWN OF NEWMARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1993

Date of

Marriage

January

2

11

16

25

February

13

14

March
11

April

17

17

24

May
1

1

11

15

22

Place of



MARRIAGES (CONTINUED)

Date of

Marriage

June

5

11

12

12

12

12

12

19

19

26

26

26

July

1

4

10

17

17

17

24

Place of



MARRIAGES (CONTINUED)

Date of

Marriage

August

1

1

3

8

21

21

27

28

28

28

28

September

4

4

4

4

11

11

11

12

12

Place of



MARRIAGES (CONTINUED)

Date of

Marriage

September

18

18

25

25

25

25

October

2

5

9

9

10

14

15

16

16

November
13

20

22

26

Place of



MARRIAGES (CONTINUED)

Date of Place of Name and Surname
Marriage Marriage of Groom and Bride

November
26 Hampton, NH Walter Stanley Hanewich, III

Athanasia N. Skoulikariti

December
2 Nashua, NH Daniel F. Christopher

Roxine M. Gagnon
11 Newmarket, NH Allan Lee Davey, Jr.

Christine Marie Nault
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BIRTHS
REGISTERED IN THE TOWN OF NEWMARKET, NH
FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1993

Date of Birth



BIRTHS (CONTINUED)

Date of Birth



BIRTHS (CONTINUED)

Date of Birth



DEATHS
REGISTERED IN THE TOWN OF NEWMARKET, NH

FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1993

Date of Death Place of Death Place of Burial Name and Surname of Deceased

January

8

17

21

31

Newmarket, NH
Exeter, NH
Exeter, NH
Portsmouth, NH

Jamestown, NY
Calvary

Riverside

Riverside

Thomas James O'Connor

Richard Joseph Butler

Maurice Austin Plante

Lilly May Roussel

February

13

16

25

Exeter, NH
Newmarket, NH
Exeter, NH

Riverside

Riverside

Riverside

Annie Laura Sewall

John Welshman, Jr.

Ruth Marion Sawyer

March
13

20

21

Exeter, NH
Brentwood, NH
Newmarket, NH

Mills, MA
Calvary

Riverside

Dennis R. Roy
Helen M. Burke

William Everett Gaither

April

5

6

6

20

26

Brentwood, NH
Dover, NH
Exeter, NH
Newmarket, NH
Brentwood, NH

Albany, NY
Rochester, NH
Riverside

Riverside

Riverside

Mary Cornell

Sidney Clarence Slate

Chesley D. Osgood

Marion Ethel Stilson

Barbara Paton

May
14

15

27

Portsmouth, NH
Rochester, NH
Exeter, NH

Calvary

Riverside

Riverside

Jeannette D. Hendzel

Florence M. Hamlin

Estella Waugh

June

26 Exeter, NH Riverside Robert John Ranfos, Jr.

July

6 Manchester, NH Calvary Ernest Lee Wilson

August

5

7

21

Newmarket, NH
Newmarket, NH
Exeter, NH

DeLray Beach, FL Rosella Smalldon Goodwillie

Calvary Joseph Gerard Gagne
Calvary Walter Joseph Goudreau

September

5

10

Dover, NH
Exeter, NH

Calvary

Riverside

Diana Mary Loughlin

Carolyn L. Davis
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REPORT OF THE
AMBULANCE CORPS

Nineteen ninety-three presented to be a very busy and challenging year for the Ambulance Corps.

The number of requests for medical aid was up 28% from nineteen ninety-two, for a total of 397

calls. To assist us in these calls, we are able to call upon the services of Exeter Hospital ALS
(Advanced Life Support) services. ALS provides the Exeter area with skilled paramedics to aid

ambulance services with critical patients.

As in the past, several of our members go beyond taking ambulance calls, they also volunteer to

do the Basic Aid Training program for the 4th graders and present the ambulance to the 6th grade

and the Newfields Pre-school, all in an effort to teach children about first-aid at a young age.

We also completed our first year of training programs with the Exeter Hospital Training

Consortium and things are going very well. In addition, some of our members have attended

advance level training to start IV's and others have taken auto-extrication courses to learn new
ways to safely remove cars and trucks away from their injured occupants.

In closing, I would again like to thank all the ambulance members and their families for their

volunteer spirit and dedication. I would also like to thank the Police and Fire Departments for

all the help they rendered through the year.

Gary L. Dossett

President
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REPORT OF THE
CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER



REPORT OF THE
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT

Another year has come and gone and we need to reflect back on some of the major events that

have happened.

In 1993-94 we saw many things occur across the country. In the east, we saw major snowstorms

that resulted in power outages and hazardous driving conditions. The mid-west saw flooding and
damage to crops and property and the west coast experienced an earthquake with many aftershocks

along with the fires in California.

We need to keep in mind that natural and technical disasters can occur anywhere and at any time.

We need to be prepared for a disaster as we never know when they may occur. Items that we
should always keep on hand are batteries for radios and flashlights, food, water, and any

medications that may be needed. We also should have a plan on what we are going to do if there

is a disaster. The following are some questions that we need to think about and answer now before

the emergency happens:

• How are we going to stay warm, cook, or get water from a well if the electricity is out?

• Do we have enough food and water on hand to take care of our needs for at least seven(7)

days.

• Do we have medications (including oxygen if on a system) to take us through seven (70)

days?

• Do we have baby food, formula, and diapers for seven (7) days?

• How much wood do we have on hand for a woodstove?

• Do we have enough food for our animals for seven (7) days?

These are just a few of the things we need to keep in mind.

One very important item we need to take care of right now while it is fresh in our minds is to talk

to your family and set up some type of plan so that if a disaster were to hit tomorrow, you would
know what each family members duties would be and what you as a family entity would do.

If you would like more information on how to prepare for a disaster, please feel free to call the

Town Hall for a brochure.

Candice Jarosz

Director
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REPORT OF THE
FIRE DEPARTMENT

The department responded to 249 calls this year. This is an increase over the previous year of

about 12 percent. These calls range from false alarms, woods and brush fires, building fires,

automobile accidents and haz mat calls. We also responded to area towns to assist them with some

of their calls. We also received their assistance when needed.

Other activities that require a lot of our time is training. Most of this training was State

certification classes. These classes average 9-12 weeks, 2 nights a week, 3-4 hours a night and some

weekends for 8 hour classes. At the present time, we have 21 members that are firefighter level

one, of which 16 have acquired career level and 3 which have acquired firefighter level 2. We also

have two enrolled in the Fire Science degree program, which can take 3-5 years to complete. This

class is 2 nights a week, 8-16 weeks long each semester. We also spend time training departments

when it can be arranged. As you can see, training takes a lot of time. This is a very demanding

schedule when you take into consideration that this department is all volunteers.

The truck committee has spent time, effort and travel to try to make the best possible buy for the

town. At this time, bids have been received and reviewed and we anticipate to award a bid in

March 1994. We anticipate the arrival of the new fire truck in late summer or early fall.

As always, we would like to thank the citizens for their support and also all the other town

departments. I would also like to thank the members of the department for their support and

commitment. In ending, I would like to thank the family members for their understanding.

Charles Clark

Chief
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REPORT OF THE
LAMPREY REGIONAL

SOLID WASTE COOPERATIVE

1993 was a very busy year for the Lamprey. We have been studying many possible solutions to

Lamprey's solid waste problems. It is imperative that a solution be found in 1994 that a majority

of the Towns can agree on.

As a result in changes made to the plant in 1992, this was our first full year that we were able to

generate steam on both boilers at the same time. Because of this, we generated over 101,000,000

million pounds of steam which was 38% of the total steam used by UNH in 1993. This helped

offset some of our revenue losses caused by a very large drop in oil prices.

We are looking forward to a successful 1994, however, we know revenue will be tight due to the

present low oil prices which is used to set our steam prices.

Joseph Moriarty

Chairman
Board of Directors
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REPORT OF THE
MOSQUITO CONTROL COMMISSION

Something good does happen during a drought - mosquitoes are suppressed. The 1993 season

began with great expectations but ended with little fanfare. High snowfall totals during the winter

generally indicate heavy mosquito populations in the spring. Melting snow fills woodland

depressions, ditches, swamps, clogged rain gutters, etc. creating ideal mosquito breeding sites. The

drought in 1993 changed that scenario. Lack of rain combined with sunny days quickly dried up

most mosquito habitats, heaving mosquito larvae to die in the mud. Of course even during a dry

season, salt marshes continue to flood from the tides, providing acres of mosquito breeding habitat.

Freshwater mosquito breeding sites are checked during April and May for larval development.

Please call the office if you would like a crew to survey your wetlands for mosquito breeding. As

in past years, the biological agent used to control mosquito larvae is Bti or Bacillus thuringiensis

israelensis. Bti is a bacteria that selectively kills mosquito larvae, black fly larvae and several other

species of flies. Bti has no effect on fish, birds, mammals, amphibians, reptiles and other insects

including bees.

Once mosquitoes hatch into flying adults, a truck mounted sprayer disperses resmethrin in areas

where mosquitoes are a nuisance. This method, known as adulticiding, supplements the larviciding

program. Adulticiding is conducted at dusk and dawn when mosquitoes are most active and wind

currents have subsided.

Many residents are interested in using predators to combat mosquitoes in the seacoast. People

may put up swallow houses in an attempt to control mosquitoes naturally. Very often, these houses

remain empty or become occupied by an opportunist such as the house sparrow. Sometimes

swallows move in, but may not control mosquitoes to satisfy humans. Birds, bats and dragonflies

each insects, but not exclusively mosquitoes. Since energy conservation is important to any animal,

these predators fee on large insects such as beetles or moths for tiny mosquitoes. Mosquitoes have

little nutritional value compared to the larger insects. In addition, once mosquitoes have dispersed

in the air as flying adults, control is difficult. Larvae trapped in stagnant pools are must easier to

control. Fish is the predator of choice for natural mosquito control. In salt marshes, native fish

species control up to 95% of the mosquito larvae. In most cases, the fish can't reach the larvae

to feed. Fish are found primarily in deeper pools close to the tidal trenches, while mosquito larvae

are found in shallow areas near the upland edge. Connect the two areas and control of mosquitoes

is achieved. This management technique known as OMWM or Open Marsh Water management

is successfully used in the northeast to control mosquitoes. Monthly tidal flooding replenishes the

fish and mosquito population creating a self-sustaining system.

Plans to implement OMWM involve numerous agencies such as the State Wetlands Board and the

Army Corps of Engineers as well as local participation. Careful planning ensures successful control

of mosquitoes using habitat management with minimal impact upon salt marsh sites.

For more information on OMWM or plans for you to build your own swallow house, bat house

or greenhead fly trap, please cal 778-3906 or 1-800-366-4206.

Sarah T. MacGregor
Mosquito Control
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REPORT OF THE
NEWMARKET HOUSING AUTHORITY

The Newmarket Housing Authority, in 1993, served 145 households with housing assistance. The
Authority provided $278,338.00 in rental subsidy at the 50 unit Great Hill Terrace public housing

neighborhood. The Authority paid rental assistance to private area landlords through 79 Section

8 Certificates and vouchers in the amount of $337,827.50.

Household Income Eligibility Limits are:

Family Size Public Housing Section 8

1 23,450 14,650

2 26,800 16,750

3 30,150 18,850

4 33,500 20,950

5 36,200 22,650

6 38,900 24,300

7 41,550 27,650

In addition to rental assistance, the Authority paid $21,679.20 in water and sewer fees and

contributed to Town coffers $8,738.96, Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILOT).

The Town is represented on the Authority's Board of Commissioners by newly elected Chairperson

William Pelletier, Vice-Chairperson Frank Schanda, Gaynile Kidd, Cindy Lavigne and outgoing

Chairperson Walter Schultz. The Board has in the past year overseen rebuilding of Gordon
Avenue street, curbs and sidewalks and the ground breaking of the Newmarket Community Center.

The Community Center will be built at Great Hill Terrace and shared with the entire Newmarket
Community. The Board has initiated a utility reduction program and plans several energy and cost

saving improvements at Great Hill Terrace.

The HOPE for Elderly Independence Program was introduced to Newmarket in 1993. The
Authority has received funding for ten (10) units of rental and social service assistance for people

age 62 or older. This program combines rental assistance and social services to allow elders with

minimal health needs to remain living independently in a private rental unit as opposed to a health

care facility. The Authority has once again joined with Lamprey Health Center to offer this

program, which currently has openings.

The office of the Newmarket Housing Authority is located at 34 Gordon Avenue, Great Hill

Terrace. The staff includes Ricky LaBranche, Madeline Richards, Mimi Rubin and myself.

Ernest A. Clark, II

Executive Director
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REPORT OF THE
POLICE DEPARTMENT

The year 1993 was another busy one for your police department. A rundown of statistics is

included as an addendum to this report.

Several items of note took place during 1993, including a communications upgrade of all

department mobile radios, continued planning for a new police facility, a complete upgrading of

the department law library, specialized training for several department members and planning for

the computerization of the department, including the communications center.

The acquisition of four additional full-featured mobile radios completed an upgrade of cruiser

communications equipment which had been started in 1992. These multi-frequency 110 watt

mobile units are state-of-the-art communications technology are a significant improvement over

the low power units they replaced. As of this writing, all department vehicles have the same radio

equipment which has greatly enhanced the reliability, effectiveness and efficiency of our radio

communications.

1993 also brought about a significant improvement in the law library maintained by your police.

A complete set of New Hampshire Revised Statutes as well as an update of New Hampshire Court

Decisions was added to our shelves. This was a major improvement to the manner in which we
had been conducting our legal research. For the first time, officers have these items available at

the station for reference instead of having to travel to the Town Hall, the county's library or to the

office of a cooperating attorney. As the department is still responsible for its own criminal

prosecutions, this addition has been most welcome.

Planning for a new police facility continued throughout 1993 and will hopefully result in fruition

in the near future. A police station that is designed and built to accommodate the special needs

of a special service agency is a must if we are to maximize our service effectiveness and efficiency.

Fortunately, we have taken some major steps forward during the year. A police facility study

committee appointed by the Town Council set about its task with diligence and as a result in

August, the Town Council acted upon a committee recommendation and was able to purchase the

former Pohopek property located at the intersection of Exeter Road and Terrace Drive. The

purchase price of $85,000 was significantly lower than the commercial price sought for the property

and the entire purchase was funded with capital reserve monies, thereby not causing any increase

to the town's tax rate. This location will allow for the erection of not only a police facility but also

could be utilized for other combinations of safety services in the future if the town should so

desire.

In November, I was most fortunate to be able to attend a week-long training session conducted by

the International Association of Chiefs of Police on "Planning, Designing and Building a Police

Facility". This class was sponsored by the Lincoln, NH Police Department and attended by police

executive, architects and engineers from all over North America. There was a great exchange of

information and many ideas were gathered as to how we might best address our building needs.
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We are now seeing light at the end of the tunnel and with the continuing support of staff,

townspeople and town officials, I am very hopeful we will continue to take measurable steps toward

satisfying one of our greatest needs.

Another need to bring the department up to modern day standards is the addition of a computer
system that will not only manage our records, but also offer computer-aided dispatching and
various function-managementprograms. We have conducted a lot of research and in the fiscal year

budget coming before the Town Meeting in May of 1994, we have requested funding for what can

most accurately be described as a need second only to a permanent home. As the budget process

continues this spring, we hope to complete our efforts and, if approved, be ready to implement a

suitable information management system by the start of the next fiscal year in July.

In other matters, I feel I should again emphasize the concerns we have as the department

responsible for animal control. The rabies situation in New Hampshire is now reaching epidemic

proportions and has been reported in this immediate area. We can only expect to encounter more
of an exposure problem as time goes on. All warm-blooded creatures are vulnerable and extreme

caution should be used around any animal that is acting in a strange or unnatural manner. Dog
and cat owners are reminded that rabies vaccination is a requirement of state law. In addition, all

dogs must be licensed annually with the Town Clerk beginning in April of the year. In fact, not

only do dogs have to be licensed annually but they must also be under control at all times and not

allowed to roam at large at any time. With the seriousness of this entire situation, many livestock

owners might want to consider having their animals inoculated as well and are advised to check

with their veterinarian for more information.

1993 also saw implementation of the final steps of department reorganization. In January, two

patrol sergeants were promoted and assigned to provide supervisory control over the patrol

function on a daily basis. This assignment was combined with a rotating schedule which will

provide optimum supervisory coverage several days a week. Previously, with only one sergeant

available, it was impossible to assign supervisory coverage for all shifts. Sergeants Kevin Walsh and
C. Robert Parry were the officers promoted and each has been able to attend various training

schools and sessions which were directly related to their supervisory function.

The patrol force saw the addition of four new faces in 1993. The positions were not new ones, but

rather replacements for those that left Newonarket for career opportunities with larger agencies.

In April, Officer Scott MacDonald, a part-time officer for several years, was promoted to full time.

In August, Officer J. Erik Haines came on board, followed by Officer Eric Morse in September

and Officer Steven Wheeler in November. We continue to be very fortunate to be able to recruit

quality personnel. This fact was never more clearly evidenced than in November when Officer

MacDonald graduated from the 101st NH Police Academy after having won both the Class

Achievement and Defensive Driving awards.

I am extremely proud of the caliber of staff members and residents of Newmarket should be also.
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In closing, I would like to take an opportunity to thank the Town Council and Administrator for

their support and guidance, the various town departments, agencies and employees for their

continued assistance and especially the residents for allowing us to serve you. Please remember
we are here to serve you and would like very much to hear from you with regard to how we might

better provide for your law enforcement and service needs. If at any time anyone has any

complaint, compliment or comment that they would like to pass on, please call me personally and

I will be willing to listen or meet with you in an attempt to address any issues that might arise.

Again, thank you for your support and remember that working together, we can make Newmarket
an even better community in which to live.

Kerryl Lee Clement

Chief of Police
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Police Department Activity

1993

Criminal Cases

Motor Vehicle Cases

Calls for Service

884

1,826

8,825

Communications Center

Total Calls Handled for 1993: 19,255

Police Department

Fire Department
Ambulance Corps

Stratham Police Department
Stratham Fire/Ambulance
Newfields Fire Department

Newfields Police

Nottingham Fire/Rescue

Total

8,825

249

400

8,030

324

45

1,200

182

19,255
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REPORT OF THE
PUBLIC LIBRARY

"What I am most proud of," says Librarian Sharon Kidney, "is that through the long months of

construction we continued to provide library services. There were only three days when, for safety

reasons, we had to close our doors."

It has been a hectic year, marked by extraordinary patience and cooperation on the part of

everyone involved, beginning with the librarian herself, who, repeatedly earning stars in her crown

through countless inconveniences and extra tasks, not only kept the place open but continued to

expand both the library's collections and its community programs, specifically, the preschool story

hours offered each week.

Library Assistant Phyllis Danko, who runs those story hours. Aides Doris Mullen and Margaret

Nash, and Custodian Roger Donovan each did their best to maintain their usual high work

standards under difficult conditions which included cold, heavy construction dust, and books in

cardboard boxes stacked three high.

The Trustees cannot list here the names of everyone who donated time, muscle, or money to this

project, but we would like to thank some of them, starting with our architect Donald Sumner for

his never faihng steady attention, creative solutions, and support. Contractor David Whitcher and

Project Manager Larry Ryan have each given more in the way of time, effort, and materials to this

effort than their business obligations required, as have many of their subcontractors.

Many Newmarket residents have helped with the huge, inescapable job of moving every book in

the library, sometimes several times. Among these were Carol Barnes, Art Proulx, Katherine Farr,

Christine Bauer, Kathy and Bob Couture, Jack and Nancy Brown, Jan Boyle, Joan Pike, Kate Clark

and the members of the Newmarket High School Honor Society.

Other people have helped in other ways, such as the energetic Election Day raffle ticket selling by

Helen Mitchell, Ruth Brown, Eleanor McCormick and Leo and Jean Benson. At the holidays,

when library conditions were especially trying, both staff and construction workers were cheered

by treats from local kitchens.

David Walker and the Public Works Department deserve particular mention for their substantial

help transporting heavy library furniture, such as donated card catalogs from Cambridge. The

Vitronic Corporation also donated furniture.

Finally, the Trustees want to thank all our library patrons for their understanding and good humor

during the past year.

We hope that the generous spirit which has brightened those months will continue, providing some

volunteer aide hours, since a major budget requirement before us is double staffing, the obvious

need to have two people in charge of the library at all times.

Without asking any further money from the town following the original capital reserve funds

transfer, the Trustees have raised, through grants and donations, enough money to cover

construction costs. Now our attention is on meeting the library's equipment needs. We have had
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a heartwarming response to our Endow-a-Chair campaign, with community donations so far of

eight chairs, three tables, two benches, four armchairs, and one coffee table. In addition, we have

just received a $5,000 grant for equipment from the Byrne Foundation in Hanover, However, we

still have not managed to raise all the equipment money we need, and that effort continues.

Isabel Donovan
Chairman
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Financial Report - Year Ending December 31, 1993
FLEET BANK MONEY MARKET ACCOUNT: Balance 12/31/92 8,434.88

1993 Interest credited 212.84

1993 Receipts' 3.245.50

Balance 12/31/93 11,893^2

PISCATAQUA SAVINGS BANK:

DURHAM TRUST/GRANITE BANK:

BANK OF NH -Matching Fund Account:

FLEET BANK -Construction Account:

(Capital Reserve Funds)

FLEET BANK CHECKING

Balance 12/31/92



REPORT OF THE
PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT

During the winter months, the Highway Division conducted snow removal operations. This winter

snow accumulation almost reached 100 inches. We wish to thank people for moving parked cars

and for resisting the temptation from throwing snow back into the street. The adopt a hydrant

program was a big success and we wish to thank those people who volunteered their time and
efforts also. During the summer, the following roads were resurfaced: Langs Lane, Dame Road,
Grant Road, Moody Point Road, New Road, Young Lane, Heartwood Circle, Bay Road,
Washington Street, Lincoln Avenue, Elm Court, Central Street and a small portion of Elm Street.

A new culvert was added on Grant Road near Johnson Drive. Dame Road between the

intersection of Route 108 and Lamprey Street was reconstructed. New drainage was added and
the entrance on to Route 108 was raised for better stopping and turning on to Route 108. Also,

the intersection of Ash Swamp Road and Old Route 108 was relocated to correct an encroachment
of the road on to private property.

In the Buildings and Grounds Division, we continued to improve Nichols Avenue ballfield, soon

to be dedicated as the Beene Howcroft Memorial Field. These improvements include two

backstops and infields for a softball field and a little league field. The turf was established and
would anticipate a summer 1994 opening date. The division purchased a new mower for park use

and a water cannon to be used on irrigation of all fields. We also purchased a used 1984 4x4 1 ton

cab and chassis from the Federal Surplus Equipment program. This vehicle was in excellent

condition, with only approximately 900 miles. Improvements to the drainage at Leo A. Landroche
Memorial Field were finished to divert surface runoff from "B" field.

The Environmental Services Division, which is the water and waste water services, continued to

work with the Great Bay Watch who monitors the water quality of the Lamprey River in the area

of the Wastewater Treatment Facility. In October, the plant had a discharge of unchlorinated, but

treated sewage into the river which received much publicity. Since the discharge, we have installed

an additional alarm and safeguards which will aid us if this event happens again. The new sludge

dewatering building continues to perform as designed. The water production for this year was
154,373,000 gallons of water. The Bennett Well produced 65,237,000 gallons and the SeweU Well

produced 89,136,000 gallons. This represents a 6% increase from the 1992 production level.

The Vehicle Maintenance Division continues to maintain and repair vehicles and equipment for

all town departments.

The Solid Waste Division continues to provide curbside trash collection and a transfer station for

residents. Residents are reminded to have their trash out at curbside prior to 7:00 a.m of the day

on which it will be collected.

The Department has a wide variety of responsibilities and we make a sincere effort to carry out

those responsibilities with minimal staffing. Should you have concerns or comments regarding

department services, please do not hesitate to contact me at 659-3093. We will continue to do our

very best for the citizens of Newmarket and greatly appreciate their support and understanding.

David G. Walker, P.E.

Director of Public Works
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REPORT OF THE
RECREATION DEPARTMENT

The year 1993 brought many growth opportunities to the Recreation Department. We expanded

our office by moving across the hall, and adding a classroom for our preschool play group, our

afterschool craft programs and adult craft classes. The biggest and most important expansion that

came in 1993 was the dream of a Community Center becoming a reality. Three years have passed

since the concept was developed for the center. The Community Center commenced construction

on November 19, 1993 and on December 2, 1993 the official groundbreaking ceremony was held.

The Recreation Department is working closely with the Turner Group, Meridian Construction

Corporation, the Town Administrator, and the Public Works Director. As of today, the center has

four walls, and they are working on the roofing. The completion date for the center is scheduled

for May 15, 1994! This will allow the Recreation Department to expand even further.

The Recreation Department has also been adding many new and exciting programs to our popular

regulars. This year we were able to offer a total of 163 programs, for all ages. Our Summer Day

Camp program increased from 150 participants in 1992 to 230 participants this past summer, while

our Teen Camp and our Preschool Camp both increase to 40 participants. We are looking forward

to expand these numbers even further in the summer of 1994. We now offer floor aerobics on

Mondays and Wednesdays, and Step Aerobics on Tuesday and Thursdays. The younger children

have started a Preschool Playgroup for kids 3-5 years old. For the adults there are a wide range

of classes offering to teach anything from crafts, to line dancing, to teaching your new dog old

tricks. For school aged children, we offer classes for the crafty at heart, programs for the sports

fans, and explorations for the nature enthusiast. The Seniors have been very active this year in

their walking club, exercise class, and the lunch bunch trips. There are trips to sporting events,

theaters, educational exhibits, and family events. We offer special events for each holiday, and

then some! These include the Easter Egg Hunt, the Fishing Derby, Olde Home Weekend,

Scarecrow & Pumpkin Patch People Contest, Halloween Party, Turkey Week, Christmas Party and

The Giving Tree.

The Newmarket Recreation Department would like to thank the many residents, participants,

volunteers and sponsors who give their help and support each year. Without you we would not be

able to keep offering the wide variety of programs that we are able to.

Jim Hilton

Recreation Director
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REPORT OF THE
RECYCLING COMMITTEE

The Newmarket Recycling Committee was very busy in 1993. We bought a plastics trailer so that

we could have consistent plastics removal. It has been deemed one of the most important items

to recycle by our regular recyclers. We have seen a steady rise in participation rate and weight

figures for material recycled. We have gone from an average of 102 cars per week in 1992 to an

average of 125 cars per week in 1993. In 1993, we recycled 49 tons of glass, 68.5 tons of

newspaper, 3.5 tons of aluminum and steel, and countless loads of plastic.

If the start of the New Year is any indication, we are going to have higher figures for 1994. After

being closed for Christmas, New Years, and a snowstorm on consecutive Saturdays, the following

Saturday brought 200 very full cars. I am sure we would have had even more had there not been

sub-zero temperatures that day!

We have recycled over 260 tons of material since our inception in August of 1991. We are pleased

and proud to have kept this material out of the waste stream, specifically out of the Lamprey
Cooperative incinerator.

As many of you know, the incinerator is slated to close in the summer of 1995. The recycling

committee is dedicated to promoting environmentally sound disposal of our town waste in the

future, with recycling as a strong component. To that end, we are promoting our efforts and the

benefits of recycling through the media and involvement in the elementary school. We are always

looking for committed individuals to meet with us on the first Monday of the month in the town

hall at 7:00 p.m.

It is through the boundless energy and enthusiasm of our many dedicated committee members,

team leaders, and volunteers that the Newmarket Recycling Program has provided a quality service

to the town for the past 2 Vz years. Thank you all!
|

Barbara M. Early

Chairperson
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Plodzik & Sanderson Professional Association
193 North Main Street Concord, N.H. 03301 (603) 225-6996

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON FINANCIAL PRESENTATION

To the Members of

the Town Council and Town Administrator
Town of Newmarket
Newmarket, New Hampshire

We have audited the accompanying general purpose financial statements of the Town of

Newmarket as of and for the 18-month period ended June 30, 1993, as listed in the

table of contents. These general purpose financial statements are the responsibility
of the Town's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
general purpose financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the general purpose financial statements are free of material

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the general purpose financial statements. An audit also

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall general purpose financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note IB, the general purpose financial statements referred to above

do not include the General Fixed Assets Account Group, which should be included to

conform with generally accepted accounting principles. The amount that should be

recorded in the General Fixed Assets Account Group is not known.

In our opinion, except for the effect on the financial statements of the omission
described in the preceding paragraph, the general purpose financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Town of Newmarket as of June 30, 1993, and the results of its operations for

the 18-month period then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the general purpose

financial statements taken as a whole. The combining and individual fund financial

statements listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional

analysis and are not a required part of the general purpose financial statements of

the Town of Newmarket. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures

applied in the audit of the general purpose financial statements and, in our opinion,

is fairly presented in all material respects in relation to the general purpose

financial statements taken as a whole.

/Q^yJhUiJi^ a*f^

August 27, 1993 PLODZIK & SANDERSON
Professional Association
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EXHIBIT A

JOUN OF NEWMARKET, NEM HAMPSHIRE
Combined Balance Sheet - All Fund Types and Account Group

June 30, 1993

Governmental Fund Types

ASSETS AND OTHER DEBITS General
Special
Revenue

Capital
Pro.iects

Assets
Cash and Equivalents
Investments
Receivables (Net of
Allowances For Uncollectibles)
Interest
Taxes
Accounts
Intergovernmental
Other

Interfund Receivable
Inventory

$1,749,459 $448,062 $1,000,150

2,407,359

31,185

42,616

107,721

40,580
34,173

17,315

Other Debits
Amount To Be Provided For
Retirement of General Long-term Debt

TOTAL ASSETS
AND OTHER DEBITS $4.230.619 $630.536 $1.017.465
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/I (1)

Fiduciary
Fund Types
Trust and

Agency

$ 294,540
2,156,422

Account
Group

4,939

10,834
40,000

General Long-

Term Debt



EXHIBIT A (Continued)
TOWN OF NEWMARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Combined Balance Sheet - All Fund Types and Account
June 30, 1993

Group

Governmental Fund Type s

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabil ities

Accounts Payable
Accrued Payroll and Benefits
Contracts Payable
Retainage Payable
Intergovernmental Payable
Interfund Payable
Escrow and Performance Deposits

Other Current Liabilities
Deferred Tax Revenues
Other Deferred Revenues
General Obligation Debt Payable
Capital Leases Payable

Compensated Absences Payable
Total Liabilities



A (2)

Fiduciary
Fund Types
Trust and

Agency

262,890

154,954
10,834

ACCOL



EXHIBIT B
TOUN OF NEWMARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
All Governmental Fund Types and Expendable Trust Funds

For the 18-Month Period Ended June 30, 1993

Governmental Fund Types

Revenues
Taxes
Licenses and Permits
Intergovernmental
Charges For Services
Miscellaneous

Other Financing Sources
Operating Transfers In

Proceeds of General Obligation Debt

Total Revenues and
Other Financing Sources

Other



Fiduciary
Fund Type
Expendable
Trust

Total
(Memorandum Only)

104,551

212,000

$ 7,247,734
643,055
650,963

1,321,129
1,449,489

543,732
900.000

316.551 12.756.10?

1,255,628
921,010
667,658
864,679
295,098
100,436
94,420

457,795
16,198

934,584
871,365

4,831,742

30.000 510.291

30.000 11.820.904

286,551

1.242.337

$1.528.888

935,198

2.205.646

$ 3.140.844

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EXHIBIT C
TOm OF NEWMARKET, NEM HAMPSHIRE

Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Budget and Actual (GAAP Basis)

General and Special Revenue Funds
For the 18-Month Period Ended June 30, 1993

Revenues
Taxes
Licenses and Permits
Intergovernmental
Charges For Services
Miscellaneous

Other Financing Sources
Operating Transfers In

Proceeds of General
Obligation Debt

Total Revenues and
Other Financing Sources

Expenditures
Current
General Government
Public Safety
Highways and Streets
Sanitation
Water Distribution
and Treatment

Health
Welfare
Culture and Recreation
Conservation

Debt Service
Capital Outlay
Intergovernmental

Other Financing Uses
Operating Transfers Out

Total Expenditures and
Other Financing Uses

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
and Other Financing Sources
Over (Under) Expenditures
and Other Financing Uses

Fund Balances - January 1. 1992

Fund Balances - June 30. 1993



Special Revenue



EXHIBIT D
TOm OF NEmARKET, NEU HAMPSHIRE

Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Balances
All Nonexpendable Trust Funds

For the 18-Month Period Ended June 30, 1993

Operating Revenues
New Funds
Interest and Dividends
Capital Gains

Fiduciary Fund Type
Nonexpendable
Trust



EXHIBIT E
TOm OF NEmARKET, NE^ HAMPSHIRE
Combined Statement of Cash Flows
All Nonexpendable Trust Funds

For the 18-Month Period Ended June 20, 1993

Fiduciary Fund Type
Nonexpendable
Trust Funds Total

(Memorandum
Town Library Onl y)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Interest and Dividends Received $ 52,350 $ 2,584 $ 54,934
New Funds Received 16,500 15,600
Trust Income Distributions (30,455) (30,455)
Operating Transfers Out (28,537 ) (28,537 )

Net Cash Provided
By Operating Activities 9.958 2.584 12.542

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Proceeds From Sales and Maturities
of Investment Activities

Purchase of Investment Securities

Net Cash Provided (Used)

In Investing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash

Cash - January 1. 1992

Cash - June 30. 1993

209,348
(241.708)



TOm OF NEmARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Town of Newmarket, New Hampshire was incorporated in 1727 and operates under a

Town Council form of government.

The financial statements of the Town have been prepared in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to the governmental units. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body
for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more
significant of the government's accounting policies are described below.

A. Governmental Reporting Entity

For financial reporting purposes, in conformity with the National Council on

Governmental Accounting Statement Number 3, Defining the Governmental Reporting
Entity, the Town of Newmarket includes all funds, account groups, agencies,
boards, commissions, authorities, and other potential component units that are
controlled by or dependent on the Town's executive or legislative branches.
Control by or dependence on the Town is determined on the basis of budget
adoption, taxing authority, outstanding debt secured by revenues or general
obligations of the Town, obligation of the Town to finance any deficits that may
occur, or receipt of significant subsidies from the Town.

In evaluating how to define the government, for financial reporting purposes,
management has considered all potential component units. The basic--but not the
only—criterion for including a potential component unit in the reporting entity
is the governing body's ability to exercise oversight responsibility. The most
significant manifestations of the ability to exercise oversight responsibility
include, but are not limited to, the selection of governing authority, the
designation of management, the ability to influence operations significantly, and
accountability for fiscal matters. A second criterion used in evaluating
potential component units is the scope of public service. Application of this
criterion involves considering whether the activity benefits the government and/or
its citizens, or whether the activity is conducted within the geographic
boundaries of the government and is generally available to its citizens. A third
criterion used to evaluate potential component units for inclusion or exclusion
from the reporting entity is the existence of special financing relationships,
regardless of whether the government is able to exercise oversight
responsibil ities.

Based on the foregoing criteria, there are no other organizations which are

included in the Town's annual financial report.

The following organization is not part of the Town and is excluded from the
accompanying financial report:

Newmarket School District

63



TOm OF NEWMARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

This organization is excluded from the Town's reporting entity because the Town

does not exercise any oversight or control over their activities. Further, the

Town has no responsibility for the budget, debt, financing of deficits or fiscal

management of this entity. Additionally, the Town does not influence the

operation of this entity in any respect other than to pay over District

Assessments or appropriations as requested.

B. Basis of Presentation - Fund Accounting

The accounts of the Town are organized on the basis of funds or account groups,

each of which is considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each

fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that

comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures/

expenses, as appropriate. Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted

for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and

the means by which spending activities are controlled. The various funds are

grouped by type in the financial statements. The following fund types and account

groups are used by the Town:

Governmental Fund Types

Governmental Funds are those through which most governmental functions of the Town

are financed. The acquisition, use and balances of the Town's expendable

financial resources, and the related liabilities are accounted for through

governmental funds. The following are the Town's Governmental Fund Types:

General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Town. All

general tax revenues and other receipts that are not allocated by law or

contractual agreement to another fund are accounted for in this fund. From the

fund are paid the general operating expenditures, the fixed charges, and the

capital improvement costs that are not paid through other funds.

Special Revenue Funds - Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds

of specific revenue sources (other than expendable trust or major capital

projects) requiring separate accounting because of legal or regulatory provisions

or administrative action. The following funds are included in this fund type:

Public Library
Conservation Commission
Town Hall Fire
Town Hall Memorial
Drug Forfeiture
Water Department
Sewer Department

Capital Projects Funds - Transactions related to resources obtained and used for

the acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital facilities are accounted

for in Capital Projects Funds. Such resources are derived principally from

64



TOWN OF NEWMARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

proceeds of long-term notes or bonds and from Federal and State grants. The
following funds are included in this fund type:

Sewer Construction Library Addition Project
Landfill Project CDBG - Community Center Project
Reconstruction Project Landfill Closure/Site Impact Project
Water Facilities Construction Project

Fiduciary Fund Types

Fiduciary Fund Types - These funds account for assets held by the Town as a

trustee or agent for individuals, private organizations, and other units of
governments.

The following funds are included in this fund type:

Nonexpendable Trust Funds
Town Trusts
Library Trusts

Expendable Trust Funds
Capital Reserve

Agency Funds
Developers' Performance Bond
Planning Board Professional Fens

ICMA Deferred Compensation Plan

Account Groups

Account groups are not "funds." They are concerned only with the measurement of
financial position. They are not involved with measurement of results of
operations. The Town uses the following account groups:

General Fixed Assets Account Group - General fixed assets have been acquired for
general governmental purposes and have been recorded as expenditures in the fund
making the expenditure. These expenditures are required to be capitalized at

historical cost in a General Fixed Asset Group of Accounts for accountability
purposes. In accordance with the practices followed by most other municipal
entities in the State, the Town does not maintain a record of its general fixed
assets and, accordingly, a statement of general fixed assets, required by

generally accepted accounting principles, is not included in this financial
report.

General Long-Term Debt Account Group - This account group is established to

account for all long-term debt of the Town.
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TOWN OF NEWMARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

Total Columns (Memorandum Only) on Combined Statements

Amounts in the "Totals (Memorandum Only)" columns in the combined financial
statement line items of the fund types and account groups are presented for
analytical purposes only. The summation includes fund types and account groups
that use different bases of accounting, includes interfund transactions that have
not been eliminated and the caption "amounts to be provided", which is not an
asset in the usual sense. Consequently, amounts shown in the "Totals (Memorandum
Only)" columns are not comparable to a consolidation and do not represent the
total resources available or total revenues and expenditures/expenses of the Town.

C. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined
by its measurement focus. All governmental funds and expendable trust funds are
accounted for using a current financial resources measurement focus. With this
measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally are
included on the balance sheet. Operating statements of these funds present
increases (i.e., revenues and other financial sources) and decreases (i.e.,
expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets.

All Nonexpendable Trust Funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities
associated with the operation of these funds are included on the balance sheet.

The accounts of the Governmental, Expendable Trust, and Agency Funds are
maintained and reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to
accrual (i.e., when they become both measurable and available). "Measurable"
means the amount of the transaction can be determined, and "available" means
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay
liabilities of the current period. Application of the "susceptibility to accrual"
criteria requires judgement, consideration of the materiality of the item in

question, and due regard for the practicality of accrual, as well as consistency
in application. Those revenues susceptible to accrual are taxes,
intergovernmental revenues, charges for services and interest revenue. Licenses
and permits and most other local source revenues are not susceptible to accrual,
because generally they are not measurable until received in cash. Expenditures
are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. Accumulated unpaid
vacation and sick pay, and principal and interest on general long-term debt are

recorded as fund liabilities when due. All Nonexpendable Trust Funds are

accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are

incurred.
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TOm OF NEmARKEJ, NEM HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

D. Budgetary Accounting

General Budget Policies

General governmental revenues and expenditures accounted for in budgetary funds

are controlled by a formal integrated budgetary accounting system in accordance

with various legal requirements which govern the Town's operations. At its annual

meeting, the Town adopts a budget for the current year for the General, Water

Department, Sewer Department, and Public Library Funds. Project-length financial

plans are adopted for all Capital Project Funds. Budgets are adopted on a basis

consistent with generally accepted accounting principles.

Management may transfer appropriations between operating categories as they deem

necessary. All annual appropriations lapse at year-end unless encumbered.

Expenditures may not legally exceed budgeted appropriations in total.

State statutes require balanced budgets, but provide for the use of beginning

unreserved fund balance to achieve that end. In 1992-93, $132,000 of the

beginning General Fund fund balance was applied for this purpose.

Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and continuing

appropriations (certain projects and specific items not fully expended at year

end) are recognized, is employed in the governmental funds. Encumbrances are not

the equivalent of expenditures and are therefore reported as part of the fund

balance at June 30 and are carried forward to supplement appropriations of the

subsequent year.

Reconciliation of Town Budget to GAAP Basis of Accounting

The Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget

and Actual (GAAP Basis) present comparisons of the legally adopted budget as

adjusted to present the budget on the GAAP basis with actual data on a GAAP basis.

Since accounting principles applied for purposes of developing data on a budgetary

basis differ from those used to present financial statements in conformity with

generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"), reconciliations of the excesses

(deficiencies) of revenue and other sources of financial resources over (under)

expenditures and other uses of financial resources for the 18-month period ended

June 30, 1993 were required as follows:
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TOm OF NEWMARKET, NE^ HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

General
Fund

Special
Revenue
Funds

Appropriations
Budgetary Basis -

Legally Adopted Budget
Municipal
School

County

Total Appropriations

Adjustments to Restate Budget to GAAP Basis
Carryover Appropriations

Reserve for Encumbrances
Beginning of period
End of period

Total Adjustments

Total Appropriations - GAAP Basis

$4,637,335
4,546,633

285.109

$1,534,172

$9.469.077 $1.534.172

85,624
(63.557 )

22.067

$9.491.144 $1.534.172

E. Assets. Liabilities and Fund Equity

Cash and Equivalents

The Town Treasurer is authorized by State statute to invest excess funds "in

obligations of the U.S. Government, in savings bank deposits of banks incorporated
under laws of the State of New Hampshire or in certificates of deposits of banks
incorporated under the Laws of the State of New Hampshire or in national banks
located within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts."

For financial reporting purposes, cash and equivalents include amounts in demand
deposits and money market funds, as well as certificates of deposit and short-term
investments.

Investments

The Town is authorized by State statute to invest Trust Funds, except Capital

Reserve Funds, in obligations of political subdivisions and stocks and bonds that

are legal for investment by New Hampshire savings banks. Capital Reserve Funds

must be kept separate and not intermingled with other Trust Funds. Capital

Reserve Funds may be invested only in savings bank deposits of New Hampshire
banks, or in United States or State of New Hampshire bonds or notes.

Investments are stated at cost or, in the case
market value on the date of bequest or receipt.

of donated investments, at the
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TOm OF NE^ARKET, NE^ HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

Receivables

Revenues for the most part are recorded when received, except for the following
items for which receivables have been recorded:

a. Tax revenue is recorded when a warrant for collection is committed to the Tax
Collector. However, management has recognized a reserve of $20,000
representing future potential abatements of property tax receivables.

The National Council on Governmental Accounting (NCGA), Interpretation 3,

Revenue Recognition - Property Taxes, requires that if property taxes are not

collected within 60 days after year end, the revenue is not considered an

"available spendable resource" and should be deferred. An exception to the

general "available 60 day" rule is allowed in unusual circumstances. The Town

has concluded that the circumstances relating to the responsibility for, and

payment of, the School Tax Assessment, along with the timing of the issuance
of the tax warrant, which is late in the budget year, justifies a period
greater than 60 days. Since this practice of recording the property tax

revenue when levied is widely recognized as being generally accepted as the

prevalent practice in New Hampshire, the Town believes that such practice is

a knowledgeable application of the NCGA Interpretation 3 exception, and

therefore Level 4 GAAP compliance may be reached.

As prescribed by law, the Tax Collector places a lien on properties for all

uncollected property taxes in the following year after taxes are due. The lien

on these properties has priority over other liens and accrues interest at 18%

per annum.

If property is not redeemed within the 2-year redemption period, the property

is tax-deeded to the Town.

b. Interest on investments is recorded as revenue in the year earned.

c. Certain grants received from other governments require that eligible
expenditures be made in order to earn the grant. Revenue for these grarits is

recorded for the period in which eligible expenditures are made.

d. Various service charges (water, sewer, etc.) are recorded as revenue for the

period when service was provided. The receivables for such services are shown

on the balance sheet.

Interfund Receivables and Payables

During the course of normal operations, the Town has transactions between funds,

including expenditures and transfers of resources to provide services and fund

capital outlay. The accompanying governmental and fiduciary fund financial

statements reflect such transactions as transfers. To the extent that certain
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TOl^N OF NEWMARKET, NEM HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

transactions have not been paid or received as of June 30, balances of interfund
amounts receivable or payable have been recorded.

Inventories

Inventory in the General and Special Revenue Funds consists of expendable supplies
held for consumption. The cost thereof has been recorded as an expenditure at the

time individual inventory items were purchased. The water department inventory
is stated at lower of cost or market, with cost determined by the first-in, first-

out method.

Deferred Revenue

The government reports deferred revenue on its combined balance sheet. Deferred

revenue arises when a potential revenue does not meet both the "measurable" and

"available" criteria for recognition in the current period. Deferred revenue also

arises when resources are received by the government before it has a legal claim

to them, as when grant monies are received prior to the incurrence of qualifying

expenditures. In subsequent periods, when both revenue recognition criteria are

met, or when the government has a legal claim to the resources, the liability for

deferred revenue is removed from ihe combined balance sheet and revenue is

recognized.

Long-Term Liabilities

General Obligation Debt - General obligation bonds, notes, capital leases, and

other forms of long-term debt supported by general revenues are obligations of the

Town as a whole. Accordingly, such unmatured obligations of the Town are

accounted for in the General Long-Term Debt Group of Accounts.

Compensated Absences - Employees may accumulate a limited amount of earned but

unused vested benefits, which will be paid to employees upon separation from the

Town's service. In Governmental Fund Types and Fiduciary Fund Types, the cost of

vested benefits paid or expected to be liquidated with expendable available

financial resources are reported as an expenditure and fund liability of the fund.

Amounts of vested or accumulated leave benefits that are not expected to be

liquidated with expendable available financial resources are reported in the

general long-term debt account group. No expenditure is reported for these

amounts. In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No. 43, Accounting for Compensated Absences, no liability is recorded

for nonvesting accumulating rights to receive benefits.

Fund Equity

The portion of fund balance which has been legally segregated for a specific

future use, or which indicates that a portion is not appropriable for

expenditures, is shown as reserved. The following reserves were used by the Town

during the 18-month period:
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TOm OF NEWMARKET, NEM HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

Reserved for Debt Service - is used to account for any unexpended balance which

has been designated to be used to pay off the principal of the applicable bond.

Reserved for Endowments - represents the principal balance of Nonexpendable Trust

Funds which must be held for investment purposes only.

Reserved for Encumbrances - is used to account for open purchase orders, contracts
and other commitments at year end for which goods and services have not been

received.

Reserved for Inventory - represents inventory which, under the purchases method,

does not represent expendable available resources, even though it is a component
of net current assets.

Reserved for Special Purposes - is used to account for the unencumbered balance

of restricted funds. These include the uncommitted balances of the Town's

Expendable Trust Funds, and the income portion of the Town's Nonexpendable Trust

Funds.

NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

A. Deficit Fund Balance

Project Deficit

There is a deficit of $517,747 in the Capital Projects (Sewer Construction) Fund

at June 30, 1993. Generally, this deficit arises because of the application of

generally accepted accounting principles to the financial reporting for this fund.

Bonds or notes authorized to finance the project are not recognized on the

financial statements until issued.

B. Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations

The following governmental funds had an excess of expenditures over appropriations
for the 18-month period ended June 30, 1993:

Special Revenue Funds
Conservation Commission $ 10,995
Town Hall Fire 355,410
Town Hall Memorial 6,877

Total $373.283

Overexpenditures occurred primarily due to the receipt and expenditure of

unanticipated funds or the expenditure of existing fund equity.
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TOm OF NEWMARKET, NE^ HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

NOTE 3 - ASSETS

A. Cash and Equivalents

At year end, the Town's cash deposits categorized according to risk assumed were
as follows:

Category 1 Includes deposits that are insured (Federal Depository Insurance).

Category 2 Includes deposits that are uninsured, but are collateralized by
securities held by the pledging financial institution, its trust
department or agent in the Town's name.

Category 3 Includes deposits that are uninsured and uncollateral ized.

Category Total
Bank Carrying

1 2 3 Balance Value
Cash

Bank Deposits $701.417 S-O- $2.737.545 $3,438,952 $2,837,832

Cash Equivalents
Repurchase
Agreement 654.779 654.379

Total Cash and
Cash Equivalents $4.093.741 $3.492.211

Repurchase Agreements

Included in the Town's cash equivalents at June 30, 1993, were short-term
investments in repurchase agreements issued by a local banking institution. Under
these agreements, the Town will be repaid principal plus interest on a specified
date which is subsequent to year end. The agreement is guaranteed/collateral ized
with securities held by the banking institution which exceed the amount of the
agreement. To the extent that the banking institution may default on its

commitment to these obligations, the Town is at risk of economic loss. Management
considers this exposure to be minimal. At June 30, 1993, the Town held
investments in repurchase agreements as follows:

Agreement Underlying Securities

$654,779 to be repaid with Tennessee Valley Bond maturing
interest of 2.5925% on 7/1/93 10/01/94; $620,000 par value

$655,266 market value
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TOyN OF NEmARKET, NEM HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

B. Investments

Investments made by the Town are summarized below. The investments that are

represented by specific identifiable investment securities are classified as to

credit risk into three categories as follows:

Category 1 Includes investments that are insured or registered, for which the

securities are held by the Town or its agent in the Town's name.

Category 2 Includes uninsured and unregistered investments, for which the

securities are held by the Town, broker, counter party's trust
department or agent in the Town's name.

Category 3 Includes uninsured and unregistered investments, for which the

securities are held by the broker, counter party, counter party's

trust department, or agent, but not in the Town's name.

All of the Town's investments are under the management of Charter Trust Company,

who is the Town's agent for these funds. These investments are designated as

Category 3 because they are held by an agent of the bank but not in the Town's

name.

Carrying
Amount



TOi^N OF NEWMARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

after the State Department of Revenue Administration has calculated and approved
the Town's tax rate for the fiscal period.

In connection with the setting of the tax rate, the New Hampshire Department of
Revenue Administration establishes and raises through taxation an amount for
abatements and refunds of property and resident taxes, known as overlay. This
amount is reported as a reduction in tax revenue and is adjusted by management for
any tax reserves at year end. The property taxes collected by the Town include
taxes levied for the Newmarket School District and Rockingham County, which are

remitted to these governmental units as required by law. The ultimate
responsibility for the collection of taxes rests with the Town.

The tax rate for the 18-month period ended June 30, 1993, was as follows:

Municipal Portion $12.90
School Tax Assessment 26.31
County Tax Assessment 1.64

Total S40.85

As prescribed by law, within 18 months of the date assessed, the Tax Collector
places a lien on properties for all uncollected property taxes in the following
year after taxes are due. The lien on these properties has priority over other
liens and accrues interest at 18% per annum. If property is not redeemed within
the 2-year redemption period, the property is tax-deeded to the Town.

During the current period, the Tax Collector on May 15, 1992, and May 17, 1993,

placed liens for all uncollected property taxes.

Taxes receivable at June 30, 1993, are as follows:

Property Taxes
Levy of 1993 $1,168,911
Levy of 1992

'

1,135

Unredeemed Taxes (under tax lien)

Levy of 1992 940,415
Levy of 1991 259,023
Prior Levies 17,254

Resident Taxes 40,620

Less: Reserve for estimated uncollectible taxes (20,000 )

Total Taxes Receivable $2.407.359
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D. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable as of June 30, 1993, are as follows:

Special Revenue Funds
Water Department

Water Rents $ 67,288
Sewer Department

Sewer Rents 40.433

Total Accounts Receivable $107.721

E. Intergovernmental Receivable

Receivables due from other governments at June 30, 1993 include:

General Fund
DRED $25,000
FEMA 6.185

Total General Fund $31,185

Capital Pro.iects Funds
State of New Hampshire $ 6,611
OSP 10.704

Total Capital Pro.iects Funds 17.315

Total Intergovernmental Receivable $48.500

F. Interfund Receivables/Payables

Individual fund interfund receivable and payable balances at June 30, 1993 are as
follows:
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G. Risk Management

The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage
to, or destruction of assets, errors or omissions, injuries to employees, or acts

of God. During 1992-93, the Town was a member of the New Hampshire Municipal
Association Property-Liability Insurance Trust, Inc. This entity is considered
a public entity risk pool, currently operating as a common risk management and

insurance program for member towns and cities.

The Property-Liability Insurance Trust, Inc. provides certain property and

liability coverage. The program includes a Loss Fund from which is paid up to

$200,000 for each and every covered property, crime and/or liability loss that
exceeds $1,000. Reinsurance is secured from other insurance companies for

incurred losses over $200,000. For the 18-month period ended June 30, 1989, the

program includes Loss Funds from which is paid up to $150,000 for each and every
covered property, crime and liability loss that exceeds $1,000.

The fund agreement permits the pool to make additional assessments to members
should there be a deficiency in trust assets to meet its liabilities. At this

time, the Trust foresees no likelihood of an additional assessment in any of the

past years.

The Town continues to carry commercial insurance for all other risks of loss,

including employee and public official fidelity bonds, health and accident
insurance.

NOTE 4 - LIABILITIES

A. Intergovernmental Payable

Payables due other governments at June 30, 1993 include:

Capital Projects Fund

Sewer Construction
Revolving loan funds due

State of New Hampshire $643,843
Trust Funds

Capital Reserve
Newmarket School District

funds in custody of Trustees
of Trust Funds 262.890

Total Intergovernmental Payable $906.733
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B. Deferred Revenue

General Fund

Deferred revenue at June 30, 1993, consists of property taxes and other revenue
collected or levied in advance of the fiscal year to which they apply. The
balance is as follows:

Deferred Tax Revenue $3,472,173
Deferred Revenue - Other 2,227

Total Deferred Revenue $3.474.400

C. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Plan Description and Provisions

Substantially all employees participate in the State of New Hampshire Retirement
System (the System), a multiple-employer cost-sharing public employee retirement
system (PERS). The payroll for employees covered by the System for the 18-month

period ended June 30, 1993, was $1,836,256; the Town's total payroll was

$1,503,711.

All full-time employees are eligible to participate in the System. The System is

divided into two employee groups; Group I - teachers and all other employees
except firefighters and police officers, and Group II - firefighters and police
officers.

Group I Employees who retire at or after age 60 are entitled to retirement
benefits equal to 1.667% of the average of their three highest-paid years of

compensation, multiplied by their years of service. Earlier retirement allowances
et reduced rates are available after age 45 with 10 years of service. Benefits
fully vest upon reaching 20 years of service or attaining age 60.

Group II Employees are subject to the same age and vesting requirements as Group
I employees. They are, however, entitled to retirement benefits equal to 2.5% of

the average of their three highest-paid years of service, multiplied by their
years of service, not to exceed 40.

The System also provides death and disability benefits, and cost-of-living
increases have been periodically granted to retirees by the State Legislature.

Description of Funding Policy

The System is financed by contributions from both the employees and the Town. By

State statute, Group I employees are required to contribute 5% of gross earnings
up to the Social Security taxable wage limit, with 9.2% of the excess wages.

Group II employees are required to contribute 9.3% of gross earnings. The Town
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must contribute the remaining amounts necessary to pay benefits when due. The
contribution requirement for the 18-month period ended June 30, 1993, was as
follows:

Town's Portion $ 43,879
Employees' Portion 93.843

Total $137.722

The amount shown as "pension benefit obligation" in the System's financial
statements is a standardized disclosure measure of the present value of pension
benefits, adjusted for the effects of projected salary increases and step-rate
benefits, estimated to be payable in the future as a result of employee service
to date. The measure, which is the actuarial present value of credited projected
benefits, is intended to help users assess the System's funding status on a going-
concern basis, assess progress made in accumulating sufficient assets to pay
benefits when due, and make comparisons among PERS and employers. The System does
not make separate measurements of assets and pension benefit obligations for
individual employers. The pension benefit obligation at June 30, 1992, for the
System as a whole, determined through an actuarial valuation performed as of
June 30, 1991, was $1,600,517,569. The System's net assets available for benefits
on that date (valued at market) were $1,654,059,701. The System holds none of the
School District's securities.

Trend Information

Historical trend information showing the System's progress in accumulating
sufficient assets to pay benefits when due is available for only six years and is

presented in the System's June 30, 1992, annual financial report (the latest year
available) .

Deferred Compensation Plan - The Town offers its Town Administrator a deferred
compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457.

The plan permits the employee to defer a portion of his salary until future years.
The deferred compensation is not available to the Town Administrator until

termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency. The plan assets and

a corresponding liability to employees for deferred compensation is recorded in

an agency fund. Plan assets are reported at fair market value.

The plan is administered by an independent company, and the Town remits all

compensation deferred to this administrator for investment as requested by the

participant employees. All compensation deferred and funded under the plan, all

investments purchased and all income attributable thereto are solely the property

and rights of the Town (until paid or made available to the employee or other

beneficiary), subject only to the claims of the Town's general creditors.

Participants' rights under the plan are equal to those of general creditors of the

Town in an amount equal to the fair market value of the deferred account for each

participant.

78



TOWN OF NEWMARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

It is the opinion of Management that the Town has no liability for losses under
the plan but does have the duty of due care that would be required of an ordinary
prudent investor. The Town believes that it is unlikely that it will use the

assets to satisfy the claims of general creditors in the future.

D. Construction and Other Significant Commitments

As of June 30, 1993, the Town had the following commitment with respect to the
following unfinished capital project:

Remaining
Construction

Capital Pro.iect Commitment

Library Addition $367.030

E. Long-Term Debt

The following is a summary of the Town's general long-term debt transactions for

the 18-month period ended June 30, 1993:

General
Obligation Capital Compensated

Debt Leases Absences
Payable Payable Payable Total

General Long-Term Debt
Account Group

Balance, Beginning of Period $3,435,000 $ $42,638 $3,477,538
Issued 900,000 13,610 913,610
Retired (563,000) (4,864) (567,864)
Net increase in compensated
absences payable 9.931 9.931

Balance, End of Period $3.772.000 $ 8.746 $52.569 $3,833.315

Long-term debt payable at June 30, 1993, is comprised of the following individual
issues:

79



TOm OF NEWMARKET, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993



TOm OF NEmARKET, NEM HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

All debt is general obligation debt of the Town, which is backed by its full faith

and credit. Enterprise Fund debt will be funded through user fees. All other

debt will be repaid from general governmental revenues.

The lease-purchase agreement contains a non-appropriation funding clause whereby,

in the event no funds or insufficient funds are appropriated by the Town, the

lease shall terminate without penalty or expense to the Town.

Bonds or Notes Authorized - Unissued

Bonds and notes authorized and unissued as of June 30, 1993 were as follows:

Per

Town Meeting Unissued

Vote of Purpose Amount

1990 Wastewater Treatment Improvements $ 650,000

1992 Fiscal Year Transition 100,000

1993 Landfill Closure 1. 902. 500

Total $2.652.500

State Aid to Mater Pollution Projects

In addition to local revenues, the "Amount To Be Provided For Retirement of

General Long-Term Debt," includes the following amounts to be received from the

State of New Hampshire in the form of State Aid to Water Pollution Projects:

Bond Issues Amount

Sewer Construction $608.284

Under RSA Chapter 486, the Town receives from the State of New Hampshire a percent

of the annual amortization charges on the original costs resulting from the

acquisition and construction of sewage disposal facilities. At June 30, 1993, the

Town is due to receive the following annual amounts to offset debt payments:

Fiscal Year
Ending June 30. Amounts

1994 $ 66,279

1995 63,444

1996 60,610

1997 57,777

1998 54,943

1999-2005 305.231

Total $608.284
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NOTE 5 - FUND EQUITY

A. Reservations of Fund Balances

Reserve for Encumbrances

Funds encumbered at year end were as follows:

General Fund
Capital Projects Fund

Library Addition Project

Total Reserve for Encumbrances

Reserved for Special Purposes

$ 63,557

371.780

$435.337

In the Trust and Agency Funds, the reserve for special purposes represents the
unspent balance of the Town's Trust Fund which may be spent for the purposes
specified as follows:

NonexD'::ndable Trust Funds (Income Balances)
Cemetery $128,341
Scholarships 6,363
Library 25,799

Total Nonexpendable Trust Funds $ 150,503

Capital Reserve Funds
Dispatch Equipment $ 30,021
Fire Department 111,796
Ambulance 71,244
Sewer 433,693
Library 291,524
Revaluation 103,315
Water System Improvements 40,000
Safety Building 321,431
Public Works 125.864

Total Capital Reserve Funds 1.528.888

Total $1.689.391

Reserved for Debt Service

The $100,000 reserved for debt service represents a portion of the General Fund
balance which was voted to be used to pay off the principal of the fiscal year
change bond.
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Reserved for Endowments

The reserved for endowments at June 30, 1993 represents the principal amount of

all Nonexpendable Trust Funds which is restricted either by law or by terms of

individual bequests, in that only income earned may be expended. The principal
balances of the Town's Nonexpendable Trust Funds at June 30, 1993 are detailed
as follows:

Purpose

Cemetery
Scholarships
Library

Total

Reserved for Inventory

Principal

$295,047
83,619
10.000

$388.666

The $34,173 reserved for inventory represents Water Department Fund inventory
which, under the purchases method, does not represent expendable available
resources, even though it is a component of net current assets.

B. Unreserved Fund Balances

Designated for Special Purposes

The $1,259,117 designated for special purposes represents Special Revenue Fund and

Capital Projects Fund balances which management intends to use in the subsequent
years is as follows:

Special Revenue Funds
Conservation Commission
Public Library
Town Hall Fire
Town Hall Memorial
Drug Forfeiture
Water Department
Sewer Department

Total Special Revenue Funds

Capital Projects Funds
Landfill Project
Reconstruction Project
CDBG Community Center Project
Landfill Closure/Site Impact Project

Total Capital Projects Funds

Total

$ 1,400
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NOTE 6 - SUMMARY DISCLOSURE OF SIGNIFICANT CONTINGENCIES

A. Litigation

There are various claims and suits pending against the Town which arise in the
normal course of the Town's activities. In the opinion of management, the
ultimate disposition of these various claims and suits will not have a material
effect on the financial position of the Town.

B. Grants

Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and

adjustment by grantor agencies, principally the Federal government. Any
disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability
of the applicable funds. The amount of expenditures which may be disallowed by

the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the Town expects such

amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

NOTE 7 - RESTATEMENT OF FUND BALANCES

Fund balances at January 1, 1992 were restated
following prior period adjustments:

to give retroactive effect to the

Capital

Reserve
Fund

Adjustments
To recognize additional

transfer not recorded
in the prior year

To remove retainage payable
overstated in prior year

Total Adjustments

Fund balance as previously stated

Fund balance as restated

20,000

$ 20,000

1.222.337

$1.242.337

Water Facilities
Construction

Project
Fund

5.000

$ 5,000

152.277

S157.277
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WARRANT
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
TOWN OF NEWMARKET

To the Inhabitants of the Town of Newmarket, in the County of Rockingham, in said State,

qualified to vote in the Town affairs: You are hereby notified to meet at the Newmarket School
Gym, in said Town on Tuesday, the 10th day of May 1994, to vote on the following Article 1.

The Polls will close and action on balloting on Article 1 will cease at 7:00 p.m. The ballots will

then be counted and the results announced.

Further, in compliance with the actions provided by the Town Meeting, March 10, 1981, Article

22, and by action of the Town Council the second session has been restricted to weekday evenings,

starting no later than 7:00 p.m. Therefore, the second session of the Town Meeting to consider

the remaining Articles will be held on Thursday, May 12, 1994 at 7:00 p.m. at the High School
Gym.

Polls Open - May 10, 1994

8:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.

Article 1: To choose all necessary Town Officers for the ensuing year.

Article 2: To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate for the purposes specified therein,

the sums of money as recommended by the Town Council and Budget Committee.

Article 3: To see if the Town will vote to rescind One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00),

of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), appropriates at the May 14, 1992 Town Meeting necessary

to finance the transition to an optional fiscal year in accordance with the provisions of the

Municipal Finance Act (RSA Chapter 33) and RSA 31: 94-d.

Article 4: To see if the Town will vote to allow a discount of two percent on all property taxes

paid in full and received in the office of the Tax Collector if paid within twenty days. Deadline
for allowance of discount to be printed on tax bills.

Article 5: To see if the Town will vote to authorize and empower the Town Council to borrow
money for necessary expenditures in anticipation of the collection of taxes.

Article 6: To see if the Town will authorize the Town Council to apply for, accept, and expend
money from the state, federal or other governmental units or private source which becomes
available during the fiscal year upon the conditions that (1) the funds be used only for legal

purposes for which the Town may appropriate monies, (2) the Town Council hold a prior public

hearing on the action to be taken, (3) expenditure of other Town funds shall not be required, all

in accordance with New Hampshire Revised Statutes Annotated Chapter 31, Section 95 -b.
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Article 7: To transact any other business which may legally come before this meeting.

Given under our hands and sealed this 13th day of April in the year of our Lord nineteen hundred

and ninety-four (1994).

k^fe^
Chairman

/ lUyC<J^£^!Ly M/ l̂ia-<_-v

11-^^^' .^r^^

XD'^'-c(
y

A true copy of Warrant - Attest:

( Tox^ Council, Town ofNewmarket, New Hampshire

i^jp^r^S/f^
Chairman

-— '^ ^^

Y .-^^^-^

C^.lO<^0

(JlA^ CtM(^r^^Ol^ .-^//^ <D

vlbi* Î Council, Town ofNewmarket, New Hampshire
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We hereby certify that we gave notice to the inhabitants within names, to meet at the times and
places and for the purpose within mentioned by posting an attested copy of the within warrant at

the place of meeting, and a like attested copy at the Town Hall being a public place in said Town,
on the 15th day of April, 1994.

Vf^^
Chairman

/- lC>L<Lc££a^ S-Z/Cg^cv

'

V,^ ^,^-^ -r"^

$^lAs^^Julf^j?i

-7 ^-^^.̂

Cij\aj2/U]L^

Tpmi Council, Town ofNewmarket, New Hampshire
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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE Form MS-7

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE ADMINISTRATION

MUNICIPAL SERVICES DIVISION

RO. Box 457

Concord, NH 03302-0457

(603)271-3397

BUDGET FORM FOR TOWNS WHICH HAVE ADOPTED THE
PROVISIONS OF THE MUNICIPAL BUDGET LAW

BUDGET OF THE TOWN

OF NEWMARKET N.H.

Appropriations and Estimates of Revenue for the Ensuing Year January 1, 19 to December 31, 19 or for Fiscal Year

From July 1 19_9i to June 30 19_95_

IMPORTANT: Please read the new RSA 32:5 applicable to all municipalities.

It requires this budget be prepared on a "gross" basis, showing all revenues and appropriations. At least one public

hearing must be held on this budget.

When completed, a copy of the budget must be posted with the warrant. Another copy must be placed on file with the town

clerk, and a copy sent to the Department of Revenue Administration at the address above.

THIS BUDGET SHALL BE POSTED WITH THE TOWN WARRANT
RSA 31:95 and 32:5

y-/3-f/Budget Committee: (Please sign in ink) Date

89





PURPOSE OF APPROPRIATION

(Continued)
Acct.

No.
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Town Office Is Closed

January 1

January 17

February 21

May 30

July 4

September 5

October 10

November 11

November 24-25

December 23 & 26

New Year Day
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
President Day
Memorial Day
Independence Day
Labor Day
Columbus Day
Veterans Day
Thanksgiving

In Observance of

Christmas

Town Clerk's office is open until 6:00 p.m. on the first and last

Thursday of every month.

Town Council 1994 Meeting Schedule

Wednesday



NEWMARKET TELEPHONE DIRECTORY

Mailing address for all departments is: Town Hall

186 Main Street

Newmarket, NH 03857

Town Administrator/Finance

Town Clerk/Tax Collector

Public Works

Code Enforcement/Health Officer

Recreation

Police Department

Fire Department

Communications Center

EMERGENCY ONLY 911

EMERGENCY ONLY 911

659-3617

659-3073

659-3093

659-8501

659-8581

Business Phone 659-6636

Business Phone 659-3334

659-3950

Ambulance Corps Business Phone 659-6029

EMERGENCY ONLY 9 1

1

Wastewater Treatment Plant 659-3093

(Questions regarding billing call Town Administrator/Finance office)

Library

Hours: Monday & Wednesday
Tuesday, Thursday and Friday

Saturday

Closed on Sundays

2 p.m. to 8 p.m.

9 a.m. to 5 p.m.

9 a.m. to 1 p.m.

659-5311
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